IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA Electronically Filed

Apr 20 2020 03:46 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

### CHRISTIAN STEPHON MILES.

Appellant,

VS.

### THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

# Appeal

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Mary Kay Holthus, District Court Judge

# APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MARIO D. VALENCIA Nevada Bar No. 6154 40 S. Stephanie St., Ste. 201 Henderson, NV 89012 (702) 384-7494 Attorney for Christian Stephon Miles

#### NRAP 26.1 Disclosure

#### **Jurisdictional Statement**

This is a direct appeal in a criminal case. This court has jurisdiction in accordance with NRS 177.015(3). The written Judgment of Conviction (Jury Trial) was entered on September 5, 2019. AAA 1383-84. Appellant, Christian Stephon Miles, filed his pro per Notice of Appeal on September 3, 2019, the same day he was sentenced. AAA 1382. The Notice of Appeal is timely pursuant to NRAP 4(b)(2).

### **Routing Statement**

This case is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court for two reasons. First, the appeal raises "a question of first impression involving the United States or Nevada Constitutions or common law." *See* NRAP 17(a)(11). Miles raises the following issues of first impression involving the U.S. and Nevada

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The district court entered an Amended Judgment of Conviction on March 26, 2020, clarifying that Miles' aggregate total sentence is 163 months to life, 8 AA 1385, 1388, not 167 months to life as noted in the original judgment, 8 AA 1384. Miles appealed from the Amended Judgment of Conviction. 8 AA 1389-90. That appeal is No. 80963. Miles has moved to consolidate the appeals. On April 17, 2020, however, the Nevada Supreme Court issued an Order to Show Cause why appeal No. 80963 should not be dismissed, since it appears Miles was not aggrieved by the Amended Judgment of Conviction. The response to the Order to Show Cause is due May 8, 2020.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "AA" means Appellant's Appendix. The number before "AA" is the volume number of the appendix, and the number(s) after "AA" refer to the page number(s) in the appendix. For example, "8 AA 1383-84" is a reference to volume 8 of Appellant's Appendix, pages 1383 through 1384.

Constitution: is NRS 176.035(1) unconstitutionally vague<sup>3</sup> as applied to Miles, does the court need to adopt factors to be used in determining whether a punishment is disproportionately severe; must the court give guidelines to the lower courts regarding criteria to be used during concurrent versus consecutive sentencing, and should the court allow defendants to waive their right to counsel based on inadequate inquiry.

Second, this appeal raises "a question of statewide public importance." *See* NRAP 17(a)(12). The questions raised in Miles' case involve constitutional protections that include: whether NRS 176.035(1) is unconstitutionally vague, whether disproportionate sentencing constitutes cruel and unusual punishment; whether the court's lack of sentencing guidelines regarding consecutive versus concurrent terms are constitutionally valid; and what constitutes a knowing and voluntary waiver of a defendant's right to counsel. All of these are questions of statewide importance that should be addressed by this court.

However, should this court determine that the case ought to be heard by the Court of Appeals, Miles has no objection.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> We note that this issue has been raised at the Court of Appeals, *see Pitmon v. State*, 131 Nev. 123, 352 P.3d 655 (Nev. Ct. App. 2015), but never at the Nevada Supreme Court. Therefore, it is an issue of first impression and public importance.

### **Statement of Issues Presented for Review**

- 1. Whether Miles' Eighth Amendment constitutional right to avoid cruel and unusual punishment was violated when the district court imposed a disproportionately severe sentence in light of the facts of the case?
- 2. Whether NRS 176.035(1) is unconstitutionally vague as-applied and violated Miles' Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment constitutional rights to due process when the district court imposed consecutive prison sentences for all of Miles' convictions in the absence of any specific, reviewable criteria or guidelines for doing so?
- 3. Whether Miles' Sixth Amendment constitutional right to representation was violated when the district court failed to (1) ensure that his waiver was knowing and voluntary by discussing possible punishments and elements to the crimes and (2) implement standby counsel once it was apparent that Miles was abusing his right to self-representation?

#### Statement of the Case

### A. Nature of the Case

This is a direct appeal in a criminal case.

# B. The Course of the Proceedings

The State filed a Criminal Complaint against Miles on March 11, 2015. 1

AA 1-2. They charged Miles with Sex Trafficking of a Child Under 18 Years of

Age (Count 1), First Degree Kidnapping (Count 2), and Living from the Earnings

of a Prostitute (Count 3). *Ibid*. On March 13, 2015, an arrest warrant for Miles was

issued. 1 AA 3. On March 24, 2015, Miles was arrested. 1 AA 4, 5.

Miles had his initial arraignment in Justice Court on March 26, 2015. 1 AA 6. He pled not guilty to the charges, bail was set at \$150,000, and a preliminary hearing was scheduled. *Ibid*.

After several continuances, the preliminary hearing was held on May 7, 2015. 1 AA 7-20. At the hearing, the State moved to add a charge for child abuse, neglect, or endangerment (Count 4). 1 AA 16. The court granted the motion and found there was probable cause to bind Miles over to answer to the charges in the amended complaint, including Count 4: child abuse, neglect or endangerment. *Ibid.*; 1 AA 21, 22.

On May 12, 2015, the State filed an Information in the district court against Miles, charging him with Sex Trafficking of a Child under 18 Years of Age (Count 1), a violation of NRS 201.300(2)(a)(1), First Degree Kidnapping (Count 2), a violation of NRS 200.310 and NRS 200.320, Living from the Earnings of a Prostitute (Count 3), a violation of NRS 201.320, and Child Abuse, Neglect, or Endangerment (Count 4), a violation of NRS 200.508(1). 1 AA 23-25. Miles' initial arraignment in the district court was held on May 18, 2015. 1 AA 26. He pled not guilty to the charges and invoked the 60-day rule, so calendar call was scheduled for June 11, 2015 and the jury trial was scheduled for June 22, 2015. *Ibid*.

At the calendar call on June 11, 2015, Miles moved to continue the trial and waived his rights to a speedy trial. 1 AA 29-32. The court granted the motion and trial was set for August 31, 2015. 1 AA 31. During this time, Miles was represented by attorney Carmine J. Colucci. *See e.g.*, 1 AA 27.

The trial was continued several more times, and in February 2016, Colucci moved to withdraw as counsel for Miles. 1 AA 34-40. The court held a hearing on February 5, 2016 and granted Colucci's motion. 1 AA 41-42, 43-59.

On March 10, 2016, the court appointed attorney Robert S. Beckett as counsel for Miles. 1 AA 60, 61-63. On May 2, 2016, Miles moved to have Beckett removed as counsel. 1 AA 64-68. On June 28, 2016, the court held a hearing on Miles' motion. 1 AA 69-70, 71-88. At that time, Miles informed the court he wanted Beckett removed as counsel, and he wanted to represent himself. 1 AA 72-73. After conducting a *Faretta* canvass, the district court granted Miles' motion, removed Beckett as counsel, and let Miles represent himself, with Beckett on deck as standby counsel. 1 AA 69, 85-86.

Miles represented himself in the district court proceedings for the next three plus years. During that time and before his jury trial, Miles filed over twenty-five motions and supplements to those motions for various relief (*e.g.*, to dismiss, to suppress evidence, in limine). *See e.g.*, 8 AA 1391-1469. There were oppositions and replies filed to the motions, and there were about 37 hearings, including multi-

day evidentiary hearings, held during this time period. *Ibid*. In the meantime, although Miles did not object, his trial was continued over and over and over again, while all this was going on. All of Miles' substantive motions were ultimately denied. *See* 1 AA 89-90, 91-92, 93-99, 100-01, 102-03, 104-05, 106-07, 108-09, 110-11; 2 AA 281-82, 283-84, 285-86. Miles also filed two pro per appeals before trial, Appeal Nos. 75839, 75839-COA, 77220, and 77220-COA.

Finally, on April 1, 2019, a little more than four years after Miles was arrested, his jury trial began. 2 AA 114. The trial lasted seven days. It ended on April 9, 2019. 8 AA 1271, 1337-40. The jury found Miles guilty of all four counts. 8 AA 1337-40, 1345-46.

Miles' original sentencing date was June 27, 2019. 8 AA 1347. However, sentencing was delayed because the court ordered a psychological evaluation be performed. *Ibid*. That evaluation was completed on August 15, 2019. Miles was then supposed to be sentenced on August 27, 2019, but there was an issue with his presentence investigation report (PSI), and the victim and her family did not show up to speak at the hearing. 8 AA 1348-54. So, the hearing was continued again. *Ibid*.

Miles was finally sentenced on September 3, 2019. 8 AA 1355-81. The Judgment of Conviction was entered on September 5, 2019. 8 AA 1383-84. And, Miles filed his notice of appeal on September 3, 2019. 8 AA 1382.

## C. Case Disposition

As noted, the jury found Miles guilty of Count 1 (Sex Trafficking of a Child Under 18 Years of Age), Count 2 (First Degree Kidnapping), Count 3 (Living from the Earnings of a Prostitute), and Count 4 (Child Abuse, Neglect, or Endangerment). 8 AA 1337-40, 1345-46. The court then imposed the following sentences:

Count 1 — 5 years (60 months) to Life;

Count 2 — 5 years (60 months) to Life, *consecutive* to Count 1;

Count 3 — 19 to 48 months, consecutive to Counts 1 and 2; and

Count 4 — 24 to 72 months, *consecutive* to Counts 1, 2, and 3.

8 AA 1373, 1383-84. Miles' aggregate total sentence, as reflected in the Judgment of Conviction, was 167 months to Life. 4 8 AA 1383-84.

The court also ordered Miles to pay a \$25.00 Administrative Assessment Fee, a \$2,500.00 Administrative Assessment Fee pursuant to AB241, a \$150.00 DNA Analysis Fee, and a \$3.00 DNA Collection Fee. 8 AA 1384. The court also ordered Miles to register as a sex offender in accordance with NRS 179D.460 within 48 hours after any release from custody. *Ibid*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See supra note 1, however, which informs this court that on March 26, 2020, the district court entered an Amended Judgment of Conviction, clarifying that Miles' aggregate total sentence is 163 months to life, 8 AA 1388, not 167 months to life.

#### **Statement of the Facts**

### A. Facts of the Underlying Alleged Offense

On the night of February 8, 2015, 16-year-old Gabrielle (Gabby) King was at home, serving out her term on juvenile house arrest. *See* Supplemental PSI 6; *see also* 4 AA 584. Her probation—which she was given after being convicted of previous prostitution problems—required an ankle monitor. 4 AA 507, 520-21, 548. That night, she reached out to Miles via Facebook and asked him to come pick her up. Supplemental PSI 6; *see also* 4 AA 577-79. Gabby had previously interacted with Miles in person a few days prior—on or about February 5, 2015—when he had taken Gabby to the Rio Hotel to discuss her working for him as a prostitute. 4 AA 573-75, 577.

On February 8, 2015, after contacting Miles, Gabby snuck out of her mother and stepfather's house and ran away. 4 AA 578-79. She then met him at the back gate outside of her neighborhood where she got into his car and they drove away. 4 AA 578-79. Gabby's stepfather saw her get into the car and attempted to follow them in his own car. 4 AA 557-58, 581.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In accordance with NRAP 30(b)(6), Miles has filed a motion with the clerk of the Nevada Supreme Court asking that the court direct the district court clerk to transmit the Supplemental Presentence Investigation Report to the clerk of the Supreme Court in a sealed envelope.

After Gabby noticed her stepfather following them, she told Miles to lose him and Miles began driving erratically. 4 AA 558, 559-60, 581. Gabby's stepfather stopped following them when he saw how dangerously Miles was driving. 4 AA 559-60. However, he was able to get Miles' license plate number, make, and model of the car. 4 AA 559. Once Gabby's stepfather returned home, Gabby's mother called 911 and gave the operator Miles' license plate number. 4 AA 549. Using that information, Gabby's neighborhood security guards were able to pull up photos of Miles attempting to gain entrance to her neighborhood three days earlier, on February 5, 2015. 4 AA 551.

After leaving Gabby's neighborhood and losing her stepfather, Miles took Gabby to a Walmart where he bought tools to remove her ankle monitor. 4 AA 581-82. Miles then took Gabby to his home and cut off her monitor. 4 AA 582-83. At the time, Miles was living with Jahnay LaPorsha Ramsey, who testified that she was working for him as a prostitute. 5 AA 749. Ramsey was at home when Miles and Gabby arrived. 4 AA 583.

Ramsey testified that Miles took her and Gabby to a nearby Budget Suites, where Miles had Ramsey rent a room for Gabby. 4 AA 583-84, 620; 5 AA 762-63. The next day, February 9, 2015, Miles bought a white cell phone for Gabby and installed an app called "TextNow" onto the device. 4 AA 586. TextNow allowed Gabby to log in to the app from her own phone, and send text messages from a

different phone number provided by the app. 4 AA 586-88, 622. Miles could then log in to the app from his own phone and see all of the texts Gabby had sent to anyone from that number. *Id.* This included any conversations that Gabby instigated with men who wanted to have sex with her for money. 4 AA 622, 627.

Miles then took Gabby to a green room in his home where he took photos of her. 4 AA 587. Miles used these photos to create sexually explicit Craigslist ads for Gabby. 4 AA 625-30. Once these Craigslist ads were posted, men began sending messages and meeting Gabby to have sex for money. 4 AA 601-08. Gabby had sex with five or six men and earned around \$500 to \$600, all of which she gave to Miles. 1 AA 10; *see also e.g.*, 4 AA 605-06, 607-08.

Throughout the next four days, Gabby was in and out of Miles' presence and spent time with several friends. On February 10, 2015, Miles dropped Gabby off at an Arby's to meet up with friends 4 AA 608, and she spent the night with her friend Durrell, 4 AA 609. She was also in contact with her friend Nashima. 4 AA 610-13. Though she was not physically with Miles, she remained in contact with him via text throughout this time. 4 AA 609, 610-13; 5 AA 725.

Knowing Gabby and Nashima were friends, Gabby's mother reached out to Nashima and offered to pay her \$50 if she could find Gabby and help the family get Gabby back. 4 AA 521-22. Nashima agreed and on February 13, 2015, Nashima brought Gabby to Arizona Charlie's. 4 AA 613-14. Upon arrival,

Gabby's mom, stepfather, and probation officer confronted her, and she was arrested. *Ibid*.

Miles was arrested over a month later, on March 24, 2015. 5 AA 567-69. Two phones were confiscated during his arrest: one from his vehicle, and one from his person. 5 AA 817. Ramsey was with him at the time and was allowed to give Miles a hug goodbye. 5 AA 818. During the hug, Miles whispered to Ramsey to take the phones off the hood of the car where the police had placed them. 5 AA 769-771, 818-19. She did as she was told but was caught and arrested seconds later. *Ibid*.

Miles testified at trial that he did not pick up Gabby on February 8, 2015, but that he and Ramsey did pick Gabby up at her request on February 9, 2015. 7 AA 1209-10. He further stated that he could not remember where he had gotten Gabby from, but that the three of them had all gone to his house. *Ibid*. He also testified that at his house, Gabby had asked him to take photos of her, and he had obliged. 7 AA 1210. Moreover, Miles attested that because Gabby had nowhere to go, Ramsey offered to let her stay in a motel room at the Budget Suites that Ramsey's family had prepaid for but were no longer using. 7 AA 1211. Miles further stated that Gabby called a drug dealer to buy some marijuana and, when the dealer arrived, he robbed Miles and took his brand-new cell phone. 7 AA 1211-13.

her and did not have a cell phone until he bought one on February 25, 2015. 7 AA 1212-13. Miles also testified that the phone number in all of the text messages between Gabby and her pimp used to be his phone number back in August 2014, and he got the number back on February 25, 2015, when he purchased his new phone but that it was not his phone number between February 8, 2015 and February 13, 2015. 7 AA 1213.

### B. Miles' Self-Representation Background

Carmine Colucci was appointed to represent Miles in May 2015. 1 AA 21.

On February 3, 2016, Colucci filed a motion to withdraw as Miles' counsel, 1 AA 34-40, and on February 5, 2016, the district court granted that motion, 1 AA 41-42. The court noted that "if I let Mr. Colucci out, which you're asking me to do, there's no way you're going to trial on March 21st." 1 AA 52.

On March 10, 2016, the court appointed Robert S. Beckett to represent Miles, 1 AA 60, and set a status check to reset Miles' trial date for April 7, 2016, 1 AA 63. On May 2, 2016, Miles filed his own Motion to Withdraw Counsel Beckett. 1 AA 64.

The court conducted a rudimentary *Faretta* canvass to create "a record that [Miles was] properly queried about [his] abilities to represent [him]self." 1 AA 74. Miles then stated that he was not "difficult as a client," but that there were "substantial documents in [his] case including like Backpage and Craigslist

ads, and Facebook messages that the attorneys don't want to look over. So [he] figure[d] if the attorneys don't want to look it over, and the attorneys don't want to file motions, its suicide for me to go to trial anyway with the attorney, so I might as well fight for myself if the attorney is not going to do it for me."

1 AA 74. Miles then complained that his pretrial motions had not yet been filed, 1 AA 75, and the court explained that those motions would not be addressed until "within a few days of the trial." 1 AA 76. The court then returned to the *Faretta* canvass, stating,

"Under the Sixth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States, you're entitled to the assistance of an attorney at all stages in a criminal proceeding. You have the right to represent yourself and conduct your own defense. The Court cannot force a lawyer upon you. You insist that you want to conduct your own defense. You're given this right under the United States Supreme Court's decision of *Faretta* versus California, but you must first knowingly and voluntarily give up your right to the assistance of an attorney before you can represent yourself. Do you understand that you have the right to the assistance of an attorney at all stages of a criminal proceeding?"

1 AA 76-77. Miles responded in the affirmative. 1 AA 77. The court then warned Miles that a lawyer would have "skills and experience" that would allow for a proper defense, and asked if Miles was "aware of the elements and the crime that you're charged with?" 1 AA 77-78. The ensuing conversation continued:

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: What are they?

THE DEFENDANT: Sex trafficking --

THE COURT: What's the elements of sex trafficking? Do you understand that each criminal charge has numerous elements to it that the State has to prove beyond a reasonable doubt?

THE DEFENDANT: -- yes Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you know what the elements of the crime you're charged with are?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: What are they?

THE DEFENDANT: Recruiting -- recruiting, enticing a person to commit sex trafficking, conspiracy; it's a whole bunch, Your Honor. I don't know off the top of my head, but there's a whole bunch of elements Your Honor.

THE COURT: Criminal trials present difficult choices as to strategy, tactics, and even attorneys can differ as to the proper defense to be made of a case. You are not trying to make these choices. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

1 AA 78. The district court never actually discussed each of the charges, the elements of the charges, or the possible defenses—but instead only did a cursory discussion of sex trafficking, at best. The court then asked Miles about possible punishment that he faced.

THE COURT: Okay. Do you understand the nature of the charges against you and any possible defenses?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You understand that it's much easier for an attorney to do legal research than it is for you, because you're in custody?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: So, doing research is going to be very difficult for you.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: What's the range of punishment for the crimes you're charged with?

THE DEFENDANT: Five to life, life.

THE COURT: Life. You could be -- if you're convicted on first-degree kidnapping in Count 2, you could be sentenced to life. Do you understand that?

MS. RHOADS [Prosecutor]: And Your Honor, Count 1 is non-probationable, and he does have to register as a sex offender if he's convicted.

THE COURT: You understand all that?

THE DEFENDANT: Whereas sex trafficking is registered -- you have to register –

MS. RHOADS: And non-probationable.

THE DEFENDANT: -- I'm aware of that.

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