#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CHRISTIAN STEPHON MILES,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed May 19 2020 10:09 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 79554

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

MARIO D. VALENCIA, ESQ. Nevada Bar #006154 40 S. Stephanie St., Ste. 201 Henderson, Nevada 89012 (702) 384-7494

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Appellant fails to demonstrate that he is entitled to relief on his claims. First, Appellant fails to demonstrate that the sentence imposed by the district court amounts to cruel and unusual punishment, as the sentence was within the district court's discretion and within the limits prescribed by statute. Second, Appellant fails to demonstrate that the statute allowing discretionary imposition of concurrent or consecutive sentences is unconstitutionally vague, as the constitutionality of that statute has been upheld, and Appellant fails to provide grounds for overturning that precedent. Finally, Appellant fails to show that the district court erred by allowing him to represent himself, as Appellant's desire was unequivocal and the district court properly cautioned and canvassed Appellant regarding self-representation.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. APPELLANT FAILS TO DEMONSTRATE HIS SENTENCE AMOUNTS TO CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution as well as Article 1, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution prohibit the imposition of cruel and unusual punishment. The Nevada Supreme Court has stated that "[a] sentence within the statutory limits is not 'cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute fixing punishment is unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience." Allred v. State, 120 Nev. 410, 92 P.2d 1246, 1253 (2004) (quoting Blume v. State, 112 Nev. 472, 475, 915 P.2d 282, 284 (1996) (quoting Culverson v. State, 95 Nev. 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220, 221-22 (1979).

Additionally, the Nevada Supreme Court has granted district courts "wide discretion" in sentencing decisions, and these are not to be disturbed "[s]o long as the record does not demonstrate prejudice resulting from consideration of information or accusations founded on facts supported only by impalpable or highly suspect evidence." Allred, 120 Nev. at 410, 92 P.2d at 1253 (quoting Silks v. State, 92 Nev. 91, 94, 545 P.2d 1159, 1161 (1976)). A sentencing judge is permitted broad discretion in imposing a sentence and absent an abuse of discretion, the district court's determination will not be disturbed on appeal. Randell v. State, 109 Nev. 5, 846 P.2d 278 (1993) (citing Deveroux v. State, 96 Nev. 388, 610 P.2d 722 (1980)). As long as the sentence is within the limits set by the legislature, a sentence will

normally not be considered cruel and unusual. <u>Glegola v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 344, 871 P.2d 950 (1994).

Appellant bases his argument on <u>Solem v. Helm</u>, 463 U.S. 277, 103 S.Ct. 3001 (1983). Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB") at 23. However, the language of <u>Solem</u> demonstrates that it was intended to be limited in scope. Furthermore, Appellant fails to demonstrate that Nevada has adopted the analysis set forth in <u>Solem</u>; in fact, a review of Nevada precedent shows that the Nevada Supreme Court has declined to utilize that analysis when presented with the opportunity. Additionally, a review of Appellant's case demonstrates that his sentence does not amount to an abuse of the district court's wide sentencing discretion.

#### A. The **Solem** analysis is limited in its scope

The <u>Solem</u> Court set forth a "proportionality analysis under the Eighth Amendment." 463 U.S. at 292, 103 S.Ct. at 3011. However, in so doing, the United States Supreme Court reaffirmed its stance "that, '[o]utside the context of capital punishment, *successful* challenges to the proportionality of particular sentences [will be] exceedingly rare." <u>Id.</u> at 289-90, 103 S.Ct. at 3009 (<u>citing Rummel v. Estelle</u>, 445 U.S. 263, 100 S.Ct. 1133 (1980)) (emphasis and modifications in original). That Court went on to explain, "[r]eviewing courts, of course, should grant substantial deference to the broad authority that legislatures necessarily possess in determining the types and limits of punishments for crimes, as well as to the discretion that trial

courts possess in sentencing convicted criminals." <u>Id.</u> at 290, 103 S.Ct. at 3009. Finally, the <u>Solem</u> Court discussed the difference between punishments of death and imprisonment, explaining:

The easiest comparison, of course, is between capital punishment and noncapital punishments, for the death penalty is different from other punishments in kind rather than degree. For sentences of imprisonment, the problem is not so much one of ordering, but one of line-drawing. It is clear that a 25-year sentence generally is more severe than a 15-year sentence, but *in most cases it would be difficult to decide that the former violates the Eighth Amendment while the latter does not*.

463 U.S. at 294, 103 S.Ct. at 3012 (emphasis added).

Appellant was adjudicated for two separate Category A felonies, SEX TRAFFICKING OF A CHILD UNDER 18 YEARS OF AGE (NRS 201.300(2)(a)(1)), and FIRST DEGREE KIDNAPPING (NRS 200.310, 200.320). The punishment *pursuant to statute* for Appellant's sex trafficking offense is set forth in NRS 201.300(2)(b)(2)(III):

If the child is at least 16 years of age but less than 18 years of age when the offense is committed...by imprisonment in the state prison for life with the possibility of parole, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 5 years has been served, and may be further punished by a fine of not more than \$10,000.

The punishment *pursuant to statute* for Appellant's kidnapping offense is set forth in NRS 200.320(2):

- (a) For life with the possibility of parole, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 5 years has been served; or
- (b) For a definite term of 15 years, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 5 years has been served.

Appellant does not contend that he was improperly adjudicated, or that the statutes under which he was sentenced are unconstitutional – he just argues his sentence under those statutes violates the Eighth Amendment. See generally, AOB at 20-27. However, because the Nevada Legislature specifically allows sentencing courts to decide concurrent or consecutive imposition, it is clear that the instant scenario fits the Solem Court's description as difficult to differentiate between constitutional and unconstitutional. See, Solem, 463 U.S. at 294, 103 S.Ct. at 3012; NRS 176.035. Furthermore, because Appellant's sentence fell within the statutory guidelines set forth by the Nevada Legislature, the Solem decision dictates that both the district court's discretion and the Nevada Legislature's determination as to the appropriate sentence deserve "substantial deference." Id. at 290, 103 S.Ct. at 3009.

Because the instant case fits the description of those cases to which the United States Supreme Court expressly determined the <u>Solem</u> analysis would not successfully apply, the State respectfully submits that the instant case falls outside the scope of Solem and that such an analysis is inapplicable here.

///

///

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appellant does challenge the constitutionality of this statute. AOB at 27. However, his failure to challenge the constitutionality of the individual statutes under which he was sentenced should be fatal to his "cruel and unusual punishment" complaint pursuant to *Nevada* precedent. See, Glegola, 110 Nev. 344, 871 P.2d 950.

#### B. Nevada has never adopted the **Solem** analysis

In addition, the Nevada Supreme Court has never adopted the <u>Solem</u> analysis and should decline to do so here. A review of Nevada case law demonstrates that <u>Solem</u> claims have been raised multiple times, and each time the Nevada Supreme Court has declined to utilize the <u>Solem</u> analysis, much less adopt it.

In Houk v. State, 103 Nev. 659, 747 P.2d 1376 (1987) the defendant was convicted of three (3) counts of issuance of no account check and two counts of uttering forged instrument. That defendant received a total of five ten (10)-year sentences, all consecutive, and appealed her sentence as disproportionate under Solem. Id. at 660, 747 P.2d at 1376. In its analysis, the Houk Court did not engage in the three-part proportionality analysis as set forth in Solem. Instead, that Court reinforced Nevada guidelines that "[o]rdinarily, a sentence of imprisonment that is within the statutory limits is not considered cruel and unusual punishment." Houk at 664, 747 P.2d at 1378 (citing Schmidt v. State, 94 Nev. 665, 584 P.2d 695 (1978)). Recognizing the substantial deference owed the legislature and sentencing courts, the Houk Court concluded that the maximum allowable penalty on each crime, each running consecutively, was proportionate to the defendant's crimes. Id. at 664, 747 P.2d at 1379. The same rationale has been repeated by the Nevada Supreme Court on multiple occasions in which defendants have raised Solem challenges to their sentences. See, Epp v. State, 107 Nev. 510, 814 P.2d 1011 (1991) (defendant's

sentence of six years in prison for neglecting or refusing to support or maintain his two minor children was not cruel and unusual because it fell within the statutory limits, and it was not facially disproportionate to the crime defendant committed); see also, Allred v. State, 120 Nev. 410, 420, 92 P.3d 1246, 1253 (2004) (defendant's sentence of two to five years in prison for battery with substantial bodily harm was within the statutory limits, and the Nevada Supreme Court explained its prerogative to "refrain from interfering with the sentence imposed '[s]o long as the record does not demonstrate prejudice resulting from consideration of information or accusations founded on facts supported only by impalpable or highly suspect evidence." (quoting Silks v. State, 92 Nev. 91, 94, 545 P.2d 1159, 1161 (1976))).

In <u>Sims v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 438, 814 P.2d 63 (1991) the defendant was convicted of one count of grand larceny. That defendant was adjudicated as a habitual criminal and sentenced to life without the possibility of parole. <u>Id.</u> at 439, 814 P.2d at 63. He also argued, citing to <u>Solem</u>, that his sentence was disproportionate and a violation of the Eighth Amendment. <u>Id.</u> The Nevada Supreme Court disagreed, concluding that no <u>Solem</u> analysis was warranted in that case. <u>Id.</u> at 440, 814 P.2d at 64. That Court explained its rationale, identifying its consideration of "both the rarity with which the <u>Solem</u>-type of appellate review was projected by the <u>Solem</u> court, and the remaining vitality of <u>Rummel.</u>" <u>Id.</u> Rather than engaging in a proportionality analysis, the <u>Sims</u> Court deferred to the sentencing

judge's familiarity with the case and the defendant's criminal background and concluded, "[d]espite what may appear to be an unduly harsh sentence based on the record before us, the sentence was lawful and presumably consonant with the judge's perceptions of Sims' just deserts and the punitive attitude of the community in which the judge serves." <u>Id.</u> On that basis, the <u>Sims</u> Court upheld the sentence imposed.

The Nevada Supreme Court likewise rejected a Solem argument in Castillo v. State, 110 Nev. 535, 874 P.2d 1252 (1994) (disapproved of on other grounds by Wood v. State, 111 Nev. 428, 892 P.2d 944 (1995)). In Castillo, a young man was convicted of sexual assault and battery with intent to commit sexual assault for actions committed while he was fifteen years old. Id. at 537, 874 P.2d at 1254. Castillo argued that, because he was a juvenile at the time he committed the offenses, the maximum statutory penalty for each crime violated the Eighth Amendment. Id. at 542-43, 874 P.2d at 1257. Though Castillo raised his claim under Solem, the Court analyzed his claim pursuant to Randell and Deveroux, acknowledging the trial court's "wide discretion in imposing a sentence." Id. at 544, 874 P.2d at 1258. The Court further cited to Lloyd v. State for the proposition that a sentence within statutory limits is not to be considered cruel and unusual "unless it is so disproportionate to the crime that it shocks the conscience and offends fundamental notions of human dignity." Id. (citing Lloyd v. State, 94 Nev. 167, 170, 576 P.2d 740, 743 (1978)).

Finally, the Nevada Supreme Court has consistently echoed its standard of review for claims of excessive criminal sentences. Recently, that Court was clear regarding the applicable standard for such claims in <u>Harte v. State</u>, 132 Nev. 410, 373 P.3d 98 (2016). Specifically, the Harte Court explained:

Regardless of its severity, a sentence, that is "within the statutory limits is not 'cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute fixing punishment is unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience." <u>Blume v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 472, 475, 915 P.2d 282, 284 (1996) (quoting <u>Culverson v. State</u>, 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220, 221–22 (1979)); *see also* <u>Harmelin v. Michigan</u>, 501 U.S. 957, 1001, 111 S.Ct. 2680, 115 L.Ed.2d 836 (1991) (plurality opinion) (explaining that "[t]he Eighth Amendment does not require strict proportionality between crime and sentence[;] ... it forbids only extreme sentences that are 'grossly disproportionate' to the crime" (citation omitted)).

<u>Id.</u> at 414, 373 P.3d at 102. The <u>Harte</u> Court also expressly stated, "we do not review nondeath sentences for excessiveness." Id.

Appellant has done nothing to distinguish his sentence from those of the defendants in the foregoing cases. See, AOB at 20-27. In fact, he does not even acknowledge the extensive Nevada authority addressing Solem. See, id. These failures should be fatal to his Solem complaint.

## C. Appellant's sentence does not amount to an abuse of the district court's wide discretion for sentencing

Pursuant to <u>Randell</u>, Appellant bears the burden to demonstrate that the district court's decision to run the sentences consecutive to each other amounted to an abuse of discretion. 109 Nev. 5, 846 P.2d 278. The Nevada Supreme Court has

previously explained that claims unsupported by legal citations will not be considered. See, NRAP 28(a)(9)(A), (j); Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Rest., 122 Nev. 317, 330 n.38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 n.38 (2006); Dept. of Motor Vehicles and Public Safety v. Rowland, 107 Nev. 475, 479, 814 P.2d 80, 83 (1991) (unsupported arguments are summarily rejected); Randall v. Salvation Army, 100 Nev. 466, 470-71, 686 P.2d 241, 244 (1984) (court may decline consideration of issues lacking citation to relevant legal authority). Indeed, "[i]t is appellant's responsibility to present relevant authority and cogent argument; issues not so presented need not be addressed by [the Nevada Supreme Court]." Maresca v. State, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987).

Appellant argues that the district court did not give "enough to justify" its sentencing decision. AOB at 22. However, he fails to cite to a single case supporting his assertion that the district court abused its decision in not further explaining its decision. See, id. at 20-23. Appellant also cites to numerous cases where "Nevada courts have allowed defendants...to have their sentences run concurrently." Id. at 25, 26. However, Appellant fails to include any relevant legal authority that sets a standard for determining between the concurrent and consecutive imposition of sentences. See, id. at 24-27. Therefore, Appellant has failed to meet his burden, and this Court should decline to consider his argument.

Because Appellant fails to demonstrate that the district court abused its discretion at sentencing, he cannot show that his sentence amounts to cruel and unusual punishment. Therefore, Appellant's Amended Judgment of Conviction should be affirmed.

#### II. NRS 176.035 IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Appellant claims that NRS 176.035(1) is unconstitutionally vague because it allowed the district court "unfettered discretion in determining whether the sentences imposed on Miles should be concurrent or consecutive." AOB at 28. However, Appellant acknowledges that his complaint has previously been rejected. <u>Id.</u> at 31-32. While Appellant makes the unqualified assertion that "the reasoning of the court of appeals is inapplicable to this case," the previous rejection of this exact complaint has been published, and constitutes binding precedent. AOB at 32.

As set forth, *supra*, in Nevada, district courts have wide discretion in imposing a sentence. <u>Houk</u>, 103 Nev. at 664, 747 P.2d at 1379. Further, a sentencing decision will not be overruled on appeal absent a showing of an abuse of discretion. Id.

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